# Minutes City of Clayton Planning Commission Regular Meeting Tuesday, November 14, 2023

# 1. CALL TO ORDER

Chair Richard Enea called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m.

#### 2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

Chair Enea led the Pledge of Allegiance.

### 3. ROLL CALL

Present: Chair Richard Enea

Vice Chair Maria Shulman

Commissioner Joseph Banchero Commissioner Bretten Casagrande Commissioner Daniel Richardson

Planning Commission Secretary/Community Development Director Dana Ayers and Assistant Planner Milan Sikela were present from City staff.

#### 4. ACCEPTANCE OF THE AGENDA

There were no changes to the agenda as submitted.

#### 5. PUBLIC COMMENT

A speaker attending the meeting in person said that he wanted to see the Planning Commission re-evaluate procedures to require the Commission to meet in the first two weeks of July following City Council appointment of Planning Commissioners for the new term, to re-organize the Commission and appoint a new chair and vice chair. He suggested that re-organizing the Commission later than that would politicize the chair/vice chair appointment process.

#### 6. CONSENT CALENDAR

# A. Minutes of Planning Commission Special Meeting of November 1, 2023.

There being no member of the public attending in person or virtually who wished to comment on the Consent Calendar, Chair Enea invited a motion. Vice Chair Shulman moved to adopt the Consent Calendar with Meeting Minutes of the November 1, 2023, special meeting, as submitted.

Commissioner Richardson seconded the motion. The motion passed by vote of 4 to 0, with Commissioner Casagrande abstaining.

# 7. PUBLIC HEARING

A. Recommendation on Amendments to Clayton Municipal Code Title 17 to Implement Adopted General Plan Housing Element Policy, Rezone Properties in Conformance with the Housing and Land Use Elements, Clarify Administrative Procedures, and Align with State Law

This is a public hearing to consider proposed amendments to various chapters of Title 17 (Zoning) of the Clayton Municipal Code (CMC), to: 1) implement adopted Housing Element policies and amended Land Use Element policies and land use designations; 2) clarify administrative procedures; and 3) align with provisions of certain California statutes governing land use. Amended text is proposed in multiple chapters of CMC Title 17. In addition to amendments to text of the Zoning Ordinance, eight sites (or portions thereof) in the City are proposed to be rezoned to accommodate residential land uses.

Community Development Director Dana Ayers presented the item and shared a slide deck summarizing the proposed Zoning code amendments described in the staff report. She explained that staff recommended the Commission ask questions of staff, open the public hearing and accept written and spoken testimony, provide feedback to staff, and continue the public hearing to the regular meeting of November 28, 2023, at which time the Planning Commission will be asked to make a recommendation to the City Council on the proposed Zoning amendments.

There were no questions from Commissioners at this time.

Chair Enea opened the public hearing on the item.

Jim Moita said he lived southeast of Clayton for 30 years and had hoped that the Commission was going to discuss his property which was just outside City limits. He said that after being denied a minor subdivision by the County in 1988, he worked with the City and other property owners to create the Marsh Creek Road Specific Plan between 1990 and 1995. His property was planned for 106 houses, but the County did not allow annexation to the City because of the Urban Limit Line. He hoped his property could be part of the discussion about how the City could meet its housing needs and requirements from the State.

Vince Moita thanked staff for their work on the Housing Element and zoning code changes to keep the City in compliance. He believed that the increases in downtown densities identified in the Housing Element to achieve the City's regional housing needs allocation resulted from the City's limitations on expanding its boundary to encompass properties in the Marsh

Creek Road Specific Plan area. He saw the Specific Plan properties as opportunities for 290 new housing units similar to the Peacock Creek and Eagle Peak developments. He suggested a legislative piece to the zoning amendments that would preclude reducing planned densities of properties in the Specific Plan area. He thanked the Commission for their time, and concluded by acknowledging that land use decisions to increase housing can come with conflict, but that the additional units were needed, as many people are priced out of the market, especially given current interest rates.

There was no member of the public attending in person or virtually who wished to comment on the item. Chair Enea invited additional comments or questions from the Commission.

Chair Enea asked about a housing development that had recently been approved on Marsh Creek Road. Director Ayers said that that was the Oak Creek Canyon development, a six-unit single-family residential project next to the eastern municipal boundary and north of Marsh Creek Road. In response to the Chair, Director Ayers confirmed that the Oak Creek Canyon property was adjacent to the speakers' property.

At the request of the Chair and Commissioner Casagrande, Jim Moita and Vince Moita provided additional history on the development of the Marsh Creek Road Specific Plan and shared maps of the properties in the Specific Plan area.

Chair Enea confirmed with staff the proposed amendments would reduce the off-street requirement for single-family houses from four spaces to two spaces, at least one of which must be covered. Director Ayers added that the requirement was a minimum requirement, and a developer of a residential project could opt to provide more parking for their marketing reasons.

Vice Chair Shulman questioned the removal of the guest parking requirement for multifamily developments and thought it might present a problem for guests and visitors to those developments.

Director Ayers explained that the proposed amendment to eliminate the guest parking requirement implemented specific policy language in the City's adopted Housing Element. She re-iterated that a developer could opt to provide more than the minimum required off-street parking if it made their units more marketable. She acknowledged that the minimum per-unit requirements for multifamily development was not proposed to be changed. She suggested that some units in a multifamily development might be occupied by households that owned fewer cars than the codified requirement, resulting in excess unused stalls, and she noted that occupants of multifamily properties tend to have lower rates of vehicle ownership than occupants of single-family residences. She explained that

eliminating the guest parking requirement would free up land to be developed with more housing units or more landscaping for better preservation of stormwater quality.

Vice Chair Shulman said she understood those points but believed that the State was walking a fine line with the reduction, since a visitor might have a disability and would need accessible and available parking. She restated that she was concerned about loss of parking, and what she understood to be State mandates to reduce or eliminate vehicle parking over-assumed that people would walk, ride a bicycle or take transit.

Director Ayers said that she could request from the City Engineer data from the Institute of Transportation Engineers' *Trip Generation* manual, which was a compilation of actual observed parking demands at existing multifamily residential developments.

Vice Chair Shulman added that she traveled to people's homes as part of her job. During the holidays, she said she struggled to find parking where parking was limited, and not all locations were accessible by bicycle or transit.

Chair Enea asked if the proposed amendment to parking requirements was a State requirement. Director Ayers advised that State legislation and policy supported moving away from single-occupant vehicle travel to reduce greenhouse gas emissions and preserve air quality globally. However, the specific policy to eliminate guest parking for multifamily residential developments was a local program that the City Council adopted in the City's Housing Element.

Chair Enea then asked if the zoning regulations could be amended in the future if the State's housing element requirements went away. Director Ayers advised that generally, zoning regulations could be amended and reamended.

Chair Enea announced that the public hearing would remain open and was continued to November 28, 2023.

## 8. COMMUNICATIONS

There were no communications from staff or Commissioners.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank.]

# 9. ADJOURNMENT

The meeting was adjourned at 7:40 p.m. to the next regular meeting of the Planning Commission on November 28, 2023.

Respectfully submitted:

Dana Ayers, AICP, Secretary

Approved by the Clayton Planning Commission:

Richard Enea, Chair